ANNUAL REVIEWS



www.annualreviews.org

- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 2023. 48:319-46

First published as a Review in Advance on August 30, 2023

The Annual Review of Environment and Resources is online at environ.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-110922-031849

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited. See credit lines of images or other third-party material in this article for license information.



Annual Review of Environment and Resources Mitigation of Concurrent Flood and Drought Risks Through Land Modifications: Potential

and Perspectives of Land Users

Lenka Slavíková¹ and Anita Milman²

¹Faculty of Social and Economic Studies, Jan Evangelista Purkyně University, Ústí nad Labem, Czech Republic; email: lenka.slavikova@ujep.cz

²Department of Environmental Conservation, University of Massachusetts, Amherst, Massachusetts, USA

Keywords

land modifications, climate change adaptation, floods, droughts, concurrent risks, motivations, land users

Abstract

Modifications to land can serve to jointly reduce risks of floods and droughts to people and to ecosystems. Whether land modifications are implemented will depend on the willingness and ability of a diversity of actors. This article reviews the state of knowledge on land modification use in areas exposed to dual hydrologic risks and the land owners, managers, and users who directly make decisions about action on lands they control. The review presents a typology of land modifications and explains how land modifications interact with the hydrological cycle to reduce risks. It then addresses the roles and perspectives of the land owners, managers, and users undertaking land modifications, summarizing theories explaining motivations for, as well as barriers to and enablers of, land modification implementation. The analysis reveals geographical differences in narratives on land modifications as well as knowledge gaps regarding variation across actors and types of land modifications.

Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	320
2.	STATE OF THE LITERATURE ON LAND MODIFICATIONS	321
3.	LAND MODIFICATION TYPOLOGY/CATEGORIES	323
4.	ROLES AND PERSPECTIVES OF LAND OWNERS, MANAGERS,	
	AND USERS	325
5.	MOTIVATIONS, BARRIERS, AND FACILITATORS TO	
	IMPLEMENTATION OF LAND MODIFICATIONS	328
	5.1. Theories Explaining Behavior and Their Applications to Land	
	Modification Implementation	328
	5.2. Barriers to and Enablers of Implementation of Land Modifications	330
6.	ASSESSMENT OF IMPACTS AND EXPANDING DEPLOYMENT	333
	6.1. Quantifying the Benefits of Land Modifications	333
	6.2. Expanding Implementation	335
7.	LOOKING FORWARD: PROSPECTS, KNOWLEDGE NEEDS,	
	AND FUTURE RESEARCH	336

1. INTRODUCTION

Although climate change is often discussed as leading to either a decrease or an increase in precipitation, in many regions of the world, climate change is concurrently increasing the frequency and magnitude of both floods and droughts (1). The extent to which this hydrologic change translates into increased risks to people and to ecosystems will be moderated by how land is managed and used, particularly at the local or watershed scale. For example, intensively managed land with degraded ecosystem functioning intensifies hydroclimatic risks, and restoration and adaptation practices that revitalize ecosystems or provide new ecosystem services may serve to mitigate hydrological extremes (2). Changes in how land is managed and used can serve to mitigate the negative effects of hydroclimatic extremes as well as of hydrologic variability (3).

Land modifications refer to intentional human interventions in land characteristics, use, and/or management practices that affect the hydrologic cycle and, in doing so doing, alleviate the negative impacts of climate change. Land modifications include both actions that alter the land in new ways and actions that attempt to restore the land to a more natural state. Land modifications vary in the extent of the expertise, resources, and tools needed to implement them, as well as the spatial area needed for them to be effective. Some land modifications are synergistic with existing land use and management (4), whereas others may require changes to or even discontinuation of existing practices (5, 6).

Although land modifications can be adopted to address either floods or droughts, a benefit of many land modifications is their ability to concurrently address both types of hydroclimatic risks (7). This characteristic is notable, given the potential for "tradeoffs in risk reduction between floods and droughts" (7, p. 81; see also 8) and that floods preceded by droughts have more pronounced impacts or require greater risk reduction than independently occurring events (9, 10).

While land modifications can serve as a valuable tool for responding to climate change, critical questions remain regarding the extent to which they will be adopted as well as whether they can and will be implemented at the scale needed to provide benefits at the watershed level and beyond. Authority over land, and thus the decision to implement land modifications, is spread, and at times

Land modification:

an intentional human intervention in land characteristics, use, and/or management practices that affects the hydrologic cycle and alleviates the negative impacts of climate change shared, across a variety of actors (11). Some land is publicly owned, yet a substantial portion of the world's land is privately owned. While governmental laws and policies can regulate or otherwise seek to influence how private lands are used and managed, implementation of land modifications is often contingent on the interest and ability, and sometimes compliance, of those who own, manage, and/or use land (12, 13). Uptake of land modifications is further complicated because land is often managed on a parcel-by-parcel basis; thus, coordination may be needed across parcels and within a watershed (14).

In light of this distributed control over land, many public policies and programs, as well as scholarly work on adaptation to hydroclimatic risks, have focused on integrated watershed-level planning (see, e.g., 15, 16) and other approaches through which public agencies and policy-makers increasingly look to engage citizens in adaptative action (17). Public agencies are also increasingly devolving responsibility for disaster security, including flood and drought risk management, to private landowners (18). Yet landowner, manager, and user response has been mixed, with some instances of regional planning initiatives struggling to convince landowners to uptake land modifications and other instances of landowners autonomously deciding to implement them (19). These trends highlight the need to develop greater understanding of how the owners, managers, and users with direct control over the land perceive land modifications; their motivations; and their barriers to and enablers of their adoption of land modifications, as well as variation across differing groups of owners, managers, and users. This knowledge is needed both to develop policy interventions that encourage or incentivize actions and to predict where and to what extent land modifications might be deployed.

To address this knowledge gap, in this article, we review the academic literature on land modifications and the land owners, managers, and users who undertake those modifications for the purpose of mitigating the intermittent occurrence of both floods and droughts. Our focus is on research that examines areas exposed to both flood and drought risks in a response to growing awareness of the need for integrating flood and drought risk reduction strategies and for improving knowledge of how human decision-making is influenced by interactions and feedbacks between hazards (8).

We begin with a description of the fields relevant to land modifications and the types of research and knowledge that have been produced on the topics in recent years. Following this summary, in Section 3 we describe the linkages and feedbacks between land and hydroclimatic risks in more detail, delineating a typology of land modifications based on the nature of the modifications made and how the modification interacts with the hydrologic cycle. In Sections 4 and 5, respectively, we address the question of who makes decisions regarding and the motivations, enablers, and barriers to deployment of land modifications. In Section 6, we examine the assessment of land modifications along with the potential for scaling-up. Finally, in Section 7 we evaluate the state of knowledge on land modifications, describing critical gaps in knowledge, including theorizing human behavior, addressing differences across groups of land owners, managers, and users, and accounting for differences in how risks and solutions are framed across geographies.

2. STATE OF THE LITERATURE ON LAND MODIFICATIONS

Land modifications have been addressed within a broad set of research agendas, including those focused on sustainable land management (see, e.g., 2), natural flood management (see, e.g., 6, 11), ecosystems-based adaptation (see, e.g., 20), and adaptation to climate change (see, e.g., 21, 22), among others. Within these research agendas, varying aspects of land modifications are captured by differing disciplines. The physical aspects of interactions between land and hydrology are examined through research drawing on climate science, hydrology, geology, civil engineering, and

Barrier:

a real or perceived obstacle/constraint impeding the land modification that can be overcome

Enabler: an external intervention that can help to overcome barriers and otherwise support land modification implementation

Scaling-up: process of more widely deploying land modifications by increasing either the size or the number of land modifications implemented in a region ecology; the social dimensions related to people, decisions, and barriers/facilitators are studied using theories and methods drawing on economics, political science, psychology, sociology, public policy and administration, and human geography. As a result, literature on land modifications is spread across a large variety of publications, and discussions on the topic span multiple venues.

To synthesize this literature and determine the state of knowledge on land modifications, we adopted a two-pronged approach that combined a systematic review of literature explicitly connected to land modifications with a targeted review of research well recognized as addressing land in the context of environmental behavior or climate adaptation. The systematic review identified all records of papers published between 1979 and 2021 located in Web of Science and Scopus that result from a keyword search. As the focus of the review is on multifunctional land modifications that serve to concurrently mitigate hydrologic risks at both ends of the spectrum, search terms included the requirement that the papers reflected exposure to both extremes (e.g., FLOOD and DROUGHT). Additional requirements were that the papers reference land (LAND or PROPERTY), action on the land (RETENTION or ADAPTATION or ADJUSTMENT or RECHARGE or HARVESTING or RESTORATION or ACCOM-MODATION or CHANGE), and actors (OWNER* or MANAGER* or USER* or HOUSEHOLD* or HOMEOWNER* or LANDHOLDER* or FORESTER* or FARMER*). Due to the review's focus on actors with the direct power to undertake action on a specific parcel of land, keyword search terms do not explicitly encompass higher-level authorities (e.g., watershed organizations, irrigation districts, or governmental agencies); however, papers addressing those entities are not excluded from the search so long as the paper also addresses either individuals or collectives that directly control the parcel of land.

These search terms resulted in an initial list of 887 records, which were then screened for duplicates. Abstracts were reviewed to confirm the paper indeed addressed both land modifications for the concurrent mitigation of the risks of floods and droughts and the behavior of land owners, managers, or users who make decisions about that land. Ninety-three papers met the review criteria. The **Supplemental Appendix** provides more information on keywords, selection criteria, and the screening process and outcomes.

The literature identified through this review spans the globe, albeit with an uneven geographic focus. Most papers address a single location within a single region, although a few papers (4%) covered countries on two different continents. The majority of papers examine either Asia (44%) or Africa (35%), with many fewer papers examining North America (13%), South America (6%), Australia (4%), and Europe (2%). The dominant focus of research on land modifications in Asia and Africa is small-scale (subsistence) farmers, whereas research in North America and Australia addresses a broader range of land owner, manager, and user types, including communal schemes, private companies, and nonagricultural users. Due to the narrow geographic focus of most papers, little comparison exists across social and/or ecological contexts for land modifications.

Papers identified as part of the systematic review are diverse in their scope and objectives. A majority aim to study adaptation to climate change broadly, with land modifications included in the research as one among many options for responding to risks. For example, 41% of papers evaluate an individual's knowledge of climate and perceptions on risks, 32% investigate perceived barriers to adaptation, 18% study socioeconomic or demographic factors affecting adaptive behavior of an individual or a household, and 8% explore how land tenure affects vulnerability to climate change. Although these papers provide insights on land owner, manager, and user behavior, in many, details on motivations to undertake land modifications are sparse (see Section 5.1). Other papers, albeit a smaller percentage of them, engage more in depth with land modifications. For example, 25% of papers evaluate physical or economic benefits of land modifications, 23% estimate the impacts of climate change, often with computer modeling, and 7% aim to build macromodels of agricultural

Supplemental Material >

production changes that include land modifications. Less than 10% of papers measure the physical extent of modifications undertaken. These findings indicate that the literature on the key decision-makers of land modification in relation to concurrent hydroclimatic hazards is far from complete; in depth studies that examine motivations in relation to specific land modifications and their expected effects in addressing both flood and drought risks are sparse and comparisons are lacking.

In addition to the scholarly work identified by the systematic review, knowledge relevant to the uptake and deployment of land modifications to address hydroclimatic risks can also be found in research not specifically focused on, yet applicable to, land modifications. This includes literature on adaptive/risk-reducing behavior in response to climate change, on environmental behavior of land owners, and on ecosystems or nature-based adaptation (see, e.g., 23–25, among others). Papers identified in the systematic review do not delve in depth into the science of land modifications, contain a paucity of comparative studies, and only rarely theorize behavior. As such, we draw on this complementary literature to provide a more comprehensive explanation of land modifications as well as to identify potential areas in which knowledge from research on behavior could be constructively applied to land modifications. Literature included for this purpose was identified through a selective search method (see, e.g., 26) that focused on finding seminal works or highly cited references from top-ranked journals and/or review articles on the topic.

3. LAND MODIFICATION TYPOLOGY/CATEGORIES

Climate, the hydrologic cycle, and land are deeply interrelated; changes to one have effects on the others. Rising temperatures lead to increased evaporation, an increase in the amount of moisture that can be held in the atmosphere, and shifts in atmospheric circulation patterns (1). These changes in turn affect the timing, intensity, frequency, and duration of precipitation (27). The magnitude of these changes, as well as their effects, is influenced by land use and management. Evaporation, run-off, and infiltration are mediated by land cover, soil moisture, topographic, and subsurface conditions (28, 29). Impervious surfaces increase runoff (30) and water infiltration decreases when land is left bare (31). In contrast, grasses and vegetation with continuous root systems can increase infiltration, reducing overland flow and the potential for flooding (32). Soil and rock heterogeneity, soil compaction, fissures and fractures, and the architecture of current and/or decayed root systems also affect how and where water flows (33). Furthermore, the water retention capacity of the landscape is reduced and runoff is increased by river channel straightening, wetland drainage, and disconnection of rivers from their floodplains (34).

People can intervene in these hydroclimatic processes by making changes to their properties. Land modifications take many forms (see **Figure 1**), each of which contributes to mitigating the effects of floods and droughts in different ways. Land modifications that serve to address the concurrent risks of floods and droughts do so by slowing and/or infiltrating water during periods of high precipitation such that water remains available in soil or storage longer, aiding with potentially extended periods of low precipitation. Modifications to land cover affect the perviousness of the land as well as evapotranspiration. Changes to soil structure and composition can facilitate infiltration and water retention. Alterations to topography can slow or speed runoff and infiltration. Shifts in land management practices (cropping and livestock) and land use serve to change not only land cover, soil structure/composition, and topography but also the negative effects of too little or too much water on production (35, 36). Most land modifications are not mutually exclusive and which form(s) of modification are used will depend on the objectives and capabilities of the person(s) seeking to make the change.

The scale at which land modifications are implemented will affect whether the modifications have property-level, localized, and/or watershed effects. In general, modifications that extend



Example

shifting from livestock to crop production, agroforestry (see, e.g., Ali et al. 2020, Ayeb-Karlsson et al. 2016, Mahaarcha 2019)

(Caption appears on following page)

Figure 1 (Figure appears on preceding page)

Categories of land modifications for mitigating hydroclimatic risks. Drawings with permission from Reference 56. Examples and respective citations include land cover alterations: 5, 37, 38 (Belle et al. 2018, McCarthy et al. 2021, Oyekale & Oyekale 2019); soil enhancements: 39–41 (Akinyi et al. 2021, Nguyen & Hens 2021, Kalele et al. 2021); topographic alterations: 42–44 (Abubakar et al. 2021, Arora & Birwal 2017, Gooden & Pritzlaff 2021); water capture and storage: 45–47 (Amede et al. 2020, Castonguay et al. 2018, Gawai & Sen 2016); cropping alterations: 48–50 (Tessema & Simane 2021, Choosuk et al. 2021, Khanal et al. 2018); livestock alterations: 45, 51, 52 (Amede et al. 2020, Rolfe et al. 2021, Rao et al. 2016); conversion of land use: 53–55 (Ali et al. 2020, Mahaarcha 2019, Ayeb-Karlsson et al. 2016).

across a larger spatial area will have a greater influence on flows and storage of water (57). However, the specific hydrogeologic context, such as the presence of fissures or faults or the location of the modification within the watershed, will influence the degree to which the modification alters hydrologic flows (6).

Land modifications provide both private benefits to the entities that implemented them as well as public benefits to a broader set of entities within the watershed. These benefits include not only mitigation of floods and droughts but also biodiversity enhancement, improved ecosystem functioning, and economic value (2). For example, at the individual level, agroforestry mitigates localized effects of floods/droughts on soil conditions, serves to diversify income (cash crops, fruit trees), and supports adaptation to increasing temperatures (shade from trees to reduce heat) in both humid (58) and semiarid areas (59). At the watershed level, agroforestry promotes advanced root systems and deeper soils that retain more water and reduce runoff (60). At the regional or global level, agroforestry enhances carbon storage and biodiversity (2, 61).

4. ROLES AND PERSPECTIVES OF LAND OWNERS, MANAGERS, AND USERS

Whether, and which, land modifications are adopted will depend on the owners, managers, and users of the land (12, 19). A land owner is an individual or entity having legal title of the land, which enables them to undertake different types of activities on the land, to sell it or lease it, and to enjoy the benefits derived from their management and use of the land. A land manager is an individual or entity designated by the land owner to administer or control the use of land. A land manager may be an individual administrating different land uses for one large landowner (as an employee) or may be a company managing land leased from a large number of small landowners (as a tenant). A land user is any person or entity that actually uses the land, be that as an owner, manager, renter/tenant, or occupier. Landowners may also serve as land managers and users, for example, a small single family farm.

Systems for land tenure (the legal regime for ownership or holding of land), and consequently relations among land owners, managers, and users, differ enormously from country to country. Land tenure and use is strongly embedded in the history of human settlements and the evolution of government in a region. In many locations around the world, the land tenure is unclear—due to contested claims, overlap between traditional and colonial regimes, or changes in systems of governance (62–64). For example, in Uganda approximately 20% of land is burdened with overlapping property rights between registered owners and legally recognized unregistered occupants (65). In Cameroon, the state serves as the guardian of all lands and does not recognize many of the customary land rights from the precolonial era. Issued formal land titles are scarce and poorly enforced, so the incentives to formalize property titles are low (66). A lack of clarity about land titles increases the vulnerability of land users to climate change and results in further land degradation (2, 64).

Land tenure is important because land owners, managers, and users vary in how they perceive and how they are affected by increasing hydrological risks. Land owners with secure tenure have a Land user: any person or entity who modifies, takes action on or otherwise derives benefits from land greater incentive to invest in, make improvements to, and protect property because any long-term benefits of such actions accrue to them (64, 67). Due to their shorter time horizons, managers or renters may be less aware of hydrologic risks and/or may need to see immediate returns on their actions in order to justify investments (63). For example, experiments with Argentinean farmers showed that "the same individual focuses on enhancing the value of owned land, but on maximizing returns from rented land" (68, p. 162). Research in Fiji similarly demonstrated that fields with a maximum 5-year lease contract produced significantly lower sugarcane yields than fields under longer leases or ownership (69).

There is heterogeneity even among the categories of land owners, managers, and users. Each can include private actors (varying from individuals to businesses of different size and legal status), public entities (representing interests of local, regional, or national governments), and formally established quasi-private or quasi-public entities contributing to land conservation and restoration goals [such as land trusts and other types of nongovernmental organizations (70)]. This distinction is important because, as described below, public and nonpublic landowners likely vary in their adaptation goals as well as capacities. In large parts of the Global South, there are also communal land users (71), whose behavior is complicated by the need to coordinate and make joint decisions among co-owners. This diversity of actors needs to be accounted for in both research on and policies seeking to influence uptake of land modifications.

Private entities are often concerned with deriving benefits from the land, such as livelihood sustainability (individuals) or economic viability/gain (businesses). They generally focused on adaptation actions that provide private benefits, i.e., those that accrue directly back to themselves. However, as private entities are embedded within the local society, they may also be interested in adaptations that provide public benefits, i.e., those that accrue to the broader community or watershed (see, e.g., 72). For example, private actors have been documented as undertaking land modifications that vary from maladaptation practices such as deforestation (73), actions affecting outputs from the land, such as crop changes (74), and land modifications that provide both private and public benefits, such as retention pond restorations (75).

The actions of quasi-public or quasi-private entities are determined by their declared goals and sources of funding, consisting of private donations and/or public sector contributions. These organizations often focus on delivering public benefits from land management and use. The land modifications they adopt tend to focus on environmental measures that include changes to land topography or land cover, such as wetland restorations [e.g., The Wetland Trust, The Nature Conservancy (https://www.nature.org/en-us/what-we-do/our-insights/reports/)], river restorations, and tree planting [e.g., The River Trust (https://theriverstrust.org/), Trees for the Future (https://trees.org/2030-2/)].

Communal land owners, managers, and users have characteristics parallel to those of both private and public entities. While they exist around the world, they often are located in countries with unclear or overlapping land tenure systems (62, 65). A driving concern is often sustainability of the livelihood of co-owners; co-owners may differ in perspectives as to how to best respond to hydroclimatic risks, and research provides evidence of both successful adaptation by communal property regimes and conflicting situations (63). An example of the former occurred in Japan, where agricultural communities that communally managed lands developed risk and flood damage sharing mechanisms that included joint soil and crop land modifications in order to secure the livelihoods of all community members regardless of a community member's location (76). An example of the latter occurred in the Eastern Ethiopian rangelands, where pastoralists were forced to migrate elsewhere because the land they used was appropriated by others investing in the land productivity through construction of irrigation channels or dams (45).

Public entities (municipalities, states) have dual roles in influencing land use/management and adoption of land modifications. On one hand, they create and implement public policies that prohibit or encourage certain land uses within their jurisdictions, be those publicly, privately, or communally held lands. Here we focus on their role as land owners, managers, or users in the instances when they have direct control over parcels of land. In comparison with private actor motivations, land modification decision-making processes of public entities are rarely investigated (77). In making decisions, public entities must contend with political pressures, balancing different competing interests (11, 78). Coordination across multiple concurrent policy goals (such as agricultural viability, water supply security, biodiversity enhancement, natural risk mitigation) is challenging. Public officers/managers also have to navigate complex institutional processes that slow down actions (79) and limited public funds (80). These factors hinder adoption of multifunctional or more sustainable land uses (11, 19), including adoption of land modifications. For example, evidence from the Czech Republic suggests that at the local level, public representatives tend to avoid unpopular land decisions, such as land modifications that limit use of municipal lands or land-use plans that restrict development to mitigate future flood damages (81).

In addition to the characteristics of decision-maker, attributes of the land itself-including current use, where in catchment it is located, and plot size, among other attributes-affect the willingness and ability to adopt different land modifications. The flexibility to make modifications on land used for productive use, such as farming or forestry, will depend on how land modifications affect current production and whether the land is essential to livelihoods (2, 20). A high dependence on the current land use and few options for livelihood diversification constrain the potential for modifications (82). Implementation of land modifications might be limited by rigidity of land use regulation. Particularly in the Global North, regulations may prevent conversions between fields, forests, and restored ecosystems (such as wetlands) or may not support multifunctional land uses, such as agroforestry (83). Furthermore, the location of land within the catchment and of the modification within the plot matters, particularly for water capture and storage and land topography modifications. Floodwater storage areas upstream mitigate risk for downstream settlements (4, 84). Infiltration and groundwater recharge need to be undertaken in locations with suitable subsurface hydrogeologies (85). Contrarily, soil, crop, and livestock modification effects seem to be much less dependent on the plot location (86, 87). Consequently, geography is a key determinant of which types of modifications are suitable for a given plot as well as where the benefits of deployment are experienced and who accrues them. In addition, fragmentation of land ownership/use (large number of small plots) may negatively affect the implementation of land modifications, especially those that require coordination among neighboring land users, such as river channel restorations (88).

Finally, adaptive capacity of land owners, managers, and users is a key variable influencing both vulnerability and uptake of land modifications (89, 90). Adaptive capacity refers to the potential or ability of an individual or a community to cope with, adapt to, or recover from the negative impacts (91). Adaptive capacity is affected by available resources, knowledge, and social capital (92, 93). For example, wealthier land owners, managers, and users in Thailand are able to invest in a broader range of land modifications (49). In the Himalayan mountains, farmers with "strong market linkages, greater assets, larger family and livestock size *are more* capable of 'stepping-up' and adapt to changes" (94, p. 9). Similarly, in Pakistan small subsistence farmers lacking financial resources and market access are less able to respond to the effects of climate change (95).

With respect to scholarly knowledge, our systematic review of papers that address both land modifications and the people who choose to implement them indicates the emphasis of research is on rural, private, and agricultural land users located primarily in the Global South, and the private benefits of land modifications to them. The vast majority (81%) of papers examine land modifications in rural areas, with few (6% of papers) examining land modifications in urban areas, and the remaining (14% of papers) either spanning both rural and urban areas or not specifying the geographic context. The use of land modifications to address dual flood and drought risks likely receives less attention in urban areas because they frequently rely on water supplies from beyond city limits, and thus modifications to address supply would be located outside the city. In the urban environment, land modifications for dual risk mitigation entails, e.g., the use of garden plots for rainwater harvesting (46) or modifications of urban agriculture practices (96).

In terms of who is making land modifications, 63% of papers examine small land holders (individuals or households) engaged in agricultural production that rely at least partly on that production for subsistence. Approximately 42% of papers include farmers or farming companies with a market focus, 16% address collective entities (public or communal users), and 18% also address nonagricultural land users. Almost 38% of papers examined more than one type of land users, owners, or managers. When collective users are involved, conservation and restoration of ecosystems are often investigated; see, e.g., the case of protected grassland management in Hungary (97) or wetland management in the Republic of South Africa (5). Much of the research does not specify the land tenure conditions of the study subjects, with more than 35% of papers referring broadly to land users without denoting ownership structure. This finding indicates a strong focus of research is on land modifications to support agriculture, with an emphasis on the private benefits of land modifications. It also suggests insufficient attention to how land tenure may affect decision-making.

The emphasis of the literature on small or subsistence-scale agriculture is reflected also in the types of land modifications examined. Articles identified in the systematic review most frequently focused on cropping alterations (63% of papers), followed by water capture and storage (49% of papers), soil enhancement (45% of papers), land cover alterations (42% of papers), and livestock alterations (30% of papers). Fewer articles addressed topographic alterations (25% of papers) or conversion of land use (26% of papers). Articles in the systematic review primarily address these land modifications in relation to their potential to reduce hydrologic risks to livelihoods, with much less attention to risk reduction for ecosystems, the built environment, or broader social systems. It is unclear whether the focus of the literature reflects the interests of researchers or realities on the ground. The review did not identify studies on interest in or availability of topographic alterations to small-scale and subsistence agriculturalists consider the potential of land modifications to produce public benefits.

5. MOTIVATIONS, BARRIERS, AND FACILITATORS TO IMPLEMENTATION OF LAND MODIFICATIONS

Implementation of land modifications will depend on the motivations of land owners, managers, and users and the ease with which they are able to undertake modifications should they seek to implement them.

5.1. Theories Explaining Behavior and Their Applications to Land Modification Implementation

A variety of theories explain human behavior and, while not developed to explain the motivation to undertake land modifications, provide useful frameworks for understanding human responses to risk and environmental stressors (98, 99). **Table 1** includes a list of commonly applied theories to the disaster risk mitigation behavior and a description of each. The theories differ in the exact details of how they conceptualize behavior yet share the presumption that behavior results from a

Theory and conceptualization of behavior	Factors influencing uptake of land modifications
Rational choice theory: Behavior is rational; people weigh the	 Costs of land modifications
costs and benefits of alternatives and choose the option that best	 Benefits of land modifications
aligns with their personal preferences [first introduced by Smith	 Preferences for land modifications
(100); recent application by Pangapanga et al. (101)].	
Theory of planned behavior: Behavior is affected by personal	 Attitudes toward land modifications
attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control	 Social norms on land use and management
[first introduced by Ajzen (102); recent application by Holt et al.	 Perceived ease of implementing land modification
(103)].	 Perceived control over factors influencing ease of
	adopting land modification
Protection-motivation theory: Behavior is affected by a person's	 Perceived risks of floods and droughts and perceived
perceptions of risk and efficacy to mitigate risk by the individual	probability of their occurrence
action as well as by that person's capacity to take action [first	 Perceived efficacy of land modifications
introduced by Rogers (104); recent application by Milman et al.	 Perceived self-efficacy to undertake land modifications
(23)].	(ability to take action)
(Focus) Theory of normative conduct: Behavior is influenced by	 Social and cultural expectations regarding land
social norms (what is normal, what is appropriate), as norms	management and use, including uptake of modifications
provide a decisional shortcut as to how to behave [first introduced	 Relative salience of different norms in a certain context
by Cialdini et al. (105); recent application by Steg & Vlek (106)].	
Cultural ecology theory: Behavior is affected by both biological	 Physical and biological properties of the land
and cultural processes that enable reproduction and survival [first	 Risks of floods and droughts
introduced by Steward (107); recent application by Ali (108)].	 Availability of technology
	 Adaptation capacity of individuals and communities
Value-belief-norm theory: Behavior is influenced by the	 Personal values (e.g., altruistic versus egoistic) regarding
intention to act derived from personal values, proenvironmental	public and private benefits
beliefs, and norms [first introduced by Stern (109); recent	 Personal beliefs (worldviews, perceived ability to act)
application by Moore & Boldero (110)]	encouraging the action
	 Pro-environmental personal norms in relation to the land
	use and management of risks
Attitude-behavior-context theory: Behavior results from	 Internal attitudes (values, beliefs) toward land
interaction among personal sphere attitudinal variables and	modifications and mitigation of risks
contextual factors [first introduced by Stern & Oskamp (111);	 External context including behavioral standards and
recent application by Okumah et al. (25)]	norms, incentives and costs, regulations related to
	adoption of land modifications

Table 1 Theories applicable to land modifications that explain human behavior

person's cognitive assessment of the effects and net benefits of actions, the risks of action/inaction, and personal and societal values and expectations. Examining across these theories and comparing findings from their application to land modifications is important for identifying which best explain differing actions and behavior (13) as well as for development of robust policies to guide human action (99).

Empirical evidence applying these theories specifically to land modifications is extremely limited. Only 4% of papers (4 total) identified in the systematic review explicitly theorize human behavior. Three of those papers draw on rational choice or protection-motivation theory to examine farming household-level preferences in relation to adoption of land modifications (50, 101, 112) while one draws on cultural ecology theory to explain trends in uptake of land modifications as part of the coevolution of human practices, the environment, and technology (108). The paucity of research theorizing behavior in relation to land modifications means there is a lack of knowledge regarding why those implementing modifications choose to do so and how motivations may differ by type of land user (e.g., private, collective, public), by sector (e.g., agriculture, forestry, urban), or by form of land modification (e.g., land cover alterations, soil enhancements, etc.)

Although the vast majority of the literature in the systematic review does not theorize the choice to deploy land modifications, a growing body of scholarly work that more broadly examines adaptation provides insights about human behavior in response to climate risks (13, 98). A prior synthesis of empirical studies on adaptation indicates action in response to climate change can be best predicted by self-efficacy (peoples' belief that they are capable of doing something), outcome efficacy (peoples' belief that an action will result in protection), negative affect (an unpleasant state of mind people wish to reduce), and descriptive norms (whether others adapt as well) (113). Moderating factors, such as type of climate hazard and form of adaptive behavior (113), as well as context (25) affect the relationships between beliefs, affect and norms, as well as which most drive action. For example, if an adaptation action is easy to undertake or does not incur significant behavioral or financial costs, cognitive factors, such as attitudes, have a greater effect on behavior; conversely, where effort and costs are higher, cognitive factors play a smaller role (110, 114).

Findings from the three aforementioned papers that examine household-level preferences for land modifications, along with several additional papers identified by the systematic review that examine the decision to adopt land modifications without explicitly theorizing behavior, align with findings from research on adaptation to climate change more broadly. These papers indicate that actors who perceive they have the capacity to take action (41, 112, 115); actors with greater education, knowledge, or access to training (50, 101, 112); and actors with greater access to resources, including wealth or technology (50, 112, 115), are more likely to adopt land modifications. With respect to how the personal characteristics of decision-makers influence the above, higher educational levels and greater experiences with farming make land users more likely to implement land modifications (54, 116). There is a lack of consensus regarding the role of age-elder farmers in Ethiopia were more likely to adopt soil enhancement and crop and livestock management alterations (117), and younger farmers in Thailand were more likely to undertake those same land modifications (54). Due to the paucity of captured evidence on the subject, how perceptions of selfefficacy, outcome efficacy, and negative affect relate to specific land modifications and whether they vary across private, public, and communal, as well as across large and small land owners, managers, and users, is unknown.

5.2. Barriers to and Enablers of Implementation of Land Modifications

As described in theories of human adaptation behavior, key to the decision of land owners, managers, and users to adopt land modifications are the contextual factors that create barriers and/or facilitate implementation of land modifications (25, 118). Even though it does not examine motivations for, the literature is rich with examples of barriers to and enablers of adoption of land modifications.

Barriers (also termed constraints or obstacles) are features emerging from the position of individual actors, the governance process of implementation, and the context in which the adaptation takes place that impede action yet can be overcome (118, 119). Barriers may be real, in that they are manifest in the external world, or may be perceived, in that they are part of an individual's mental processing in relation to the action. Barriers to adaptation to climate risks have been classified by a variety of scholars (see, e.g., 119, 120). Commonly identified categories include institutional, political, financial, cognitive-informational, cognitive-attitudinal, and physical barriers (see **Table 2** for definitions).

Thirty-one percent of papers (29 total) in the systematic review included some mention of barriers (see **Table 2** for details). Most frequently mentioned were financial barriers (22 papers), physical barriers (15 papers) and cognitive-informational barriers (13 papers). Institutional and

Table 2 Barriers to land modification implementation. Examples and respective citations include institutional: 116, 121 (Ahmad et al. 2021, Beckman & Nguyen 2016); financial: 41, 122 (Kalele et al. 2021, Jacobi et al. 2017); cognitive-informational: 41, 123 (Kalele et al. 2021, Maharjan & Maharjan 2020); cognitive-attitudinal: 43, 124 (Arora & Birwal 2017, Wu et al. 2013); and physical: 41, 125 (Kalele et al. 2021, Holden et al. 2018)

Barriers		Manifestation	Examples in systematic review
Institutional	Constraints due to the legal and normative processes governing land use and land use change, including the structure of and cooperation among oversight agencies and processes	 Insufficient support at and across levels of government Unclear or insecure land tenure Inadequate law enforcement 	 (11 papers mentioned in the systematic review) Unclear land ownership reduces access to land and the long-term motivations of household farmers in Pakistan to adopt land adjustments (Ahmad et al. 2021). Some villages in Vietnam cannot engage in replanting or agroforestry to address degraded forests because their village land certificates do not grant them rights to develop that land (Beckman & Nguyen 2016).
Political	Power dynamics and interests that impede decision-making or are opposed to implementation of specific land adjustments	 Political ideology Instability or change of political representation 	Not addressed in the systematic review
Financial	Constraints related to the economic and transaction costs of implementing land adjustments	 Low incomes Limited access to credit Opportunity costs of the land adjustment Perverse incentives Difficulty of selling agricultural products at local markets 	 (22 papers mentioned in the systematic review) Limited access to credit and high cost of inputs (seeds, fertilizers, and pesticides) represent significant barriers to adoption of soil enhancements by smallholder farmers in Kenya (Kalele et al. 2021). Agroforestry practices may reduce production of goods that could be sold at local Bolivian markets (Jacobi et al. 2017).
Cognitive- informational	Constraints related to insufficient knowledge and information on climate risks and land adjustments	 A lack of information and knowledge about climate change variability Lack of awareness regarding feasible adaptation options 	 (13 papers mentioned in the systematic review) Kenyan farmers lack information about higher yields provided by climate resilient and certified seeds (Kalele et al. 2021). Nepalese land users have low awareness about climate change and its impact affecting their livelihoods (Maharjan & Maharjan 2020).
Cognitive- attitudinal	A reluctance to undertake land adjustments due to worldviews, values, or sociocultural pressures	 A lack of trust and willingness to cooperate among landowners/users Social and cultural constraints to undertake land modifications 	 (10 papers mentioned in the systematic review) Ethiopian farmers fear water capture and storage will bring unintended consequences, including local conflicts (Arora & Birwal 2017). Some Chinese farmers who are good at paddy rice cultivation do not want to grow dry land crops (Wu et al. 2013).
Physical	Attributes of the property and natural conditions (geography, topography, spatial extent) that constrain deployment or effectiveness of land adjustments	 Shrinking labor force due to outmigration Lack of or shrinking water availability Degraded soil quality and quantity 	 (15 papers mentioned in the systematic review) Poor and declining soil fertility leads Kenyan farmers to overuse chemical fertilizers rather than adopt land modifications that could address hydroclimatic risks, such as mulching (Kalele et al. 2021). In Malawi, a lack of labor impedes adoption of labor-intensive conservation agriculture practices (Holden et al. 2018).

cognitive-attitudinal barriers were least frequently addressed (11 and 10 papers, respectively). Most of the barriers identified by papers in the systematic review are broad impediments to adaptation, irrespective of whether that adaptation includes land modifications (65, 76). Only one-third of barriers discussed were linked to a particular land modification. Financial barriers were primarily discussed in relation to soil enhancement and/or a lack of funds to purchase agricultural inputs for crop or livestock alterations (41, 122). Cognitive-informational barriers were frequently mentioned in relation to knowledge of new agricultural techniques for soil enhancement and crop alterations (123). Physical barriers were discussed most frequently in relation to land cover alterations, especially when constraints related to tree planting due to soil quality and water availability

Table 3 Enablers of land modification implementation. Examples and respective citations include regulatory/ authority-based: 117, 126 (Teshager et al. 2014, Ahmad & Afzal 2020); economic: 125, 127 (Holden et al. 2018, Blackburn et al. 2018); information-based: 36, 51 (Rahut et al. 2021, Rolfe et al. 2021); and capacity building: 43, 36 (Arora & Birwal 2017, Rahut et al. 2021)

Enablers		Interventions	Examples from the systematic review
Regulatory/ authority- based	Legal requirements for undertaking or changing regulations and administrative practices to make it easier to undertake land	 Strategic, catchment, or other land use planning Formalization of property rights and land tenure reforms Direct state interventions into land management practices 	 (9 papers mentioned in the systematic review) Land ownership clarification would increase the willingness of land users to build irrigation canals in Ethiopia (Teshager et al. 2014), or to clean irrigation canals in Pakistan (Ahmad & Afzal 2020).
Economic	Provision of financial or other resources to reduce the costs of or reward deployment of land adjustments or that increase a household's capacity to undertake land adjustments	 Access to credit, low interest loans Subsidies Payment for ecosystem services and other compensations Development that improves livelihoods (diversified income, better linkages of products to markets) 	 (22 papers mentioned in the systematic review) Subsidies reduced the cost of seeds, enabling farmers in Malawi to adopt crop alterations (Holden et al. 2018). A payment for an ecosystem service scheme increased uptake of soil enhancements in North American rangelands (Blackburn et al. 2018).
Information- based	Aimed at knowledge sharing and awareness raising	 Training workshops and programs Demonstrations of specific technologies Extension services Awareness raising campaigns 	 (18 papers mentioned in the systematic review) Training on climate-smart agriculture helps to modify existing farming practices in five African countries (Rahut et al. 2021). Governmental knowledge exchange and advisory programs help Australian grazers adjust stocking rates and manage grazing practices to reduce their vulnerability to climate variability (Rolfe et al. 2021).
Capacity building	Focused on social network development that results in both improved information transfer and strengthening of skills	 Knowledge sharing among neighbors Support from or membership in trusted local organizations, such as farm associations and village groups Active participation in consensus- building 	 (15 papers mentioned in the systematic review) Pilots by a few risk-taking Ethiopian pastoralists who implemented water spreading weirs on their land served as an entry point to motivate other community members to adopt crop alterations and water capture and storage (Arora & Birwal 2017). Membership in farm associations enabled African farmers to better use their networks to find production alternatives and led to broader adoption of soil alterations (Rahut et al. 2021).

(41, 125). Barriers delineated by papers in the systematic review are closely tied to the (aforementioned) emphasis of those papers on small-scale or subsistence agriculture in the Global South. Institutional barriers may be more prevalent in the Global North, where there are a greater number of institutions and regulatory processes governing activities undertaken on land (119, 128). Furthermore, with limited research for comparison, it remains to be determined whether financial, cognitive-informational, and cognitive-attitudinal barriers between small private (and predominantly agricultural) land users and public, collective, or larger-scale land users differ.

Enablers (also termed facilitators or drivers) are external interventions that can help to overcome barriers to and otherwise support implementation of land modifications. Such external interventions may be undertaken by a variety of entities seeking to encourage adoption of land modifications, including public agencies and nongovernmental or even private organizations. Categories of enablers commonly include regulatory- and authority-based, economic-based, information-based, and capacity-building enablers (see **Table 3** for definitions).

Almost 40% of papers (37 total) in the systematic review addressed enablers. The most frequent categories addressed were economic enablers (22 papers), followed by information-based enablers (18 papers), capacity-building enablers (15 papers), and regulatory enablers (9 papers). Unlike how the literature approaches barriers, scholars more closely link enablers to specific types of land modifications. Articles in the review suggest land cover and livestock management alterations are equally supported by all four types of enablers (38, 122); soil enhancement and crop alterations are best enabled by economic, information-based, and capacity-building enablers; and water capture and storage is best enabled by regulatory- and authority-based interventions. The literature includes little discussion regarding enablers of land topography alterations or conversion of land use.

In terms of how enablers relate to specific barriers, financial barriers can be addressed to a large extent by economic enablers (such as rewards, subsidies or direct provision of material) (125, 127), although some financial barriers, such as outmigration/lack of labor, are caused by overall macroeconomic trends that are difficult to reverse. Cognitive-informational and cognitive-attitudinal barriers can be addressed by information-based and capacity-building enablers (43, 51). Institutional barriers can primarily be reduced by regulatory- and authority-based enablers such as land tenure reform or better law enforcement (117). Fewer enablers address physical barriers. Some physical barriers can be enabled by economic enablers such as public investments in infrastructure or regulatory- and authority-based enablers such as land tenure reform. However, in other instances, physical barriers may preclude adoption of a particular land modification on a particular plot of land.

6. ASSESSMENT OF IMPACTS AND EXPANDING DEPLOYMENT

While land modifications portend promising mechanisms for responding to the concurrent occurrence of flood and drought risks, the extent to which land modifications can serve to reduce hydroclimatic risks at the plot level and beyond remains a critical question. Answering this question requires two steps: (*a*) identifying and quantifying the actual risk reduction that occurs from implementation of land modifications at the scale of an individual project, at larger scales, and as multiple land modifications accrue across the landscape, as well as (*b*) determining the extent to which land modifications are feasible and likely to be widely implemented.

6.1. Quantifying the Benefits of Land Modifications

Under some circumstances, quantification of the expected benefits from land modifications is not needed for implementation. For example, decision-makers may not need detailed knowledge of the effects of land modifications when cobenefits—such as environmental protection or livelihood enhancement—drive the decision to change land use (55, 129), when land modifications reflect so-called no-regret strategies (21), or when land modifications are adopted because they are perceived as the right thing to do (75, 130). In other instances, quantification of expected impacts is important for the decision to implement the land modification. For example, many public agencies are required to engage in evidence-based policy-making (see, e.g., 131), and thus public agencies that manage land or public agencies creating policies to encourage implementation of land modifications may need to demonstrate proof of effectiveness in order to support land modifications.

Delivering robust evidence for land modifications for hydroclimatic risk mitigation is complex. The impacts of land modifications will depend on a variety of factors including the physical extent of the modification, its geographic location, and site-specific details (6, 10, 30). For example, the flood risk mitigation benefits of water capture and storage and land topography alterations depend on size of the catchment, the stream network, as well as the location and the design of the land modification (6). As another example, the water retention capacity of land cover alterations such as reforestation depend on vegetation characteristics, soil porosity and depth, elevation, and slope

(106, 132). In some instances, the length of time a modification has been in place also affects the benefits it provides. For example, the type of vegetative cover and its extent of coverage impact runoff (133, 134), yet vegetation takes time to grow to its full size. Benefits of land modifications may also vary under differing hydroclimatic conditions. Many land modifications work well for small- or medium-magnitude events (e.g., the 10-to-20-year or even 50-year flood), but not for extreme flooding. Effectiveness will also depend on recent hydroclimatic conditions. For example, the extent to which forests in headwater catchments reduce the peak of flood events varies between 3% and 70%, in part due to pre-event soil moisture (134).

Evaluating and quantifying the effects of land modifications requires detailed monitoring and tracking of water flows and soil conditions over an extended period, including across regular variation in weather conditions. Most land owners, managers, and users implementing land modifications do not undertake such detailed monitoring (11, 75). Furthermore, while many public agencies, such as watershed authorities or natural resource agencies, have monitoring responsibilities, political, economic, human-resource, and bureaucratic factors constrain the extent of monitoring they are able to engage in (135). Given the emphasis of papers captured within the systematic review on the Global South, monitoring capacity constraints may explain why few quantify the hydroclimatic risk reduction benefits of land modifications.

With respect to evidence beyond the papers identified in our systematic review, a 2020 systematic review of the scientific literature of nature-based solutions found that while there is evidence of the biodiversity enhancement benefits of nature-based solutions, including land modifications, evidence is missing on mitigation of hydroclimatic risks (136). The very few instances of detailed research on the effects of land modifications address a single modification or small-scale deployment. For example, research in Scotland calculated that temporary storage ponds with 200 to 2,000 m³ of retention capacity on fields within a 4 km² catchment area can reduce the risk of flooding by 30%. Furthermore, as those ponds retain storm water for only 12–24 hours, they do not reduce farmland productivity. A study also showed that if sediments detained in storage ponds are removed, temporally storage ponds provide the cobenefit of mitigating soil erosion (4). Similarly, rock check dams in Arizona were shown to increase groundwater recharge and promote stable surface water runoff (137).

Analysis of the effects of land modifications at a larger scale and within larger catchments (i.e., exceeding the extent of 10 km²) also does not appear in the systematic review, although scientists have researched effects in greater detail. Such studies generally rely on simulations (134) or a comparison of measured runoff changes before and after an intervention (137) rather than detailed monitoring of flows throughout the catchment. A considerable amount of research has utilized computer modeling to examine how land modifications such as development and urbanization increase hydroclimatic risks throughout a watershed (see, e.g., 138, 139). The past decade has seen a flip in that paradigm, with use of computer modeling to evaluate the potential for land modifications to reduce rather than increase hydroclimatic risks (see, e.g., 140, 141) as well as to identify locations where land modifications could be implemented to reduce hydroclimatic risks (see, e.g., 142). Computer modeling is particularly useful for estimating the magnitude of the effects of larger-scale land modification. However, computer modeling has limitations, especially where data on land cover and hydrogeologic conditions are sparse or at a coarse scale. Local conditions affect flows throughout a catchment yet, without substantial data for calibration, many models must rely on broad simplifications and assumptions to represent the physical conditions in the catchment.

While analysis of the potential risk reduction benefits from increased deployment of land modifications is important, small variations within the landscape may mean attempts to generalize from small plots to catchments may lead to inaccurate conclusions (14). Watersheds also have emergent properties, meaning functioning at higher-order scales (e.g., the broader catchment) cannot be fully determined by components at lower scales (e.g., subcatchments or individual parcels) (143). Furthermore, uncertainty related to translating expected changes in regional climate into localized impacts complicates the evaluation of measures (144).

6.2. Expanding Implementation

The degree to which land modifications contribute to hydroclimatic risk reduction will also depend on the extent to which they are implemented. Expanding deployment of land modifications will require overcoming the barriers to deployment described above. Papers in the systematic review specifically identify cognitive-informational, financial, institutional, and political barriers to widespread deployment of land modifications. With respect to cognitive-informational barriers, scholars assert broadening the extent to which land modifications are deployed will require greater knowledge of the factors influencing adoption of land modifications (52, 145) and greater dissemination of information on land modifications as an option (41). Mismatches exist between the coarse scale of information on climate change, and the localized information needs of the land users who may adopt land modifications also need to be resolved (146). Solutions proposed in the literature include extensive capacity building and knowledge transfer (41) along with downscaling and dissemination of information on climate change (146, 147).

Financing is also described by articles in the systematic review as a substantial barrier to widespread deployment of land modifications. Investments in large-scale land modifications are missing (44) and financial constraints impede increased deployment of capital-intensive land modifications (148). Research shows high investment costs make small-scale farmers hesitant to engage in large-scale crop or livestock modifications (96). Furthermore, time-scale mismatches occur between when small-scale farmers have resources available (the end of a season) and when decisions to embark on crop or livestock modifications ensue (44, 147). Subsidies and the creation of ecosystem service markets have also been used to promote soil enhancement and crop modifications (125, 127).

The literature addresses institutional and political barriers to expanded deployment of land modifications with less detail. One paper in the systematic review discusses the need for cooperation, joint planning, and participatory engagement as well as support from higher levels of government (45); another highlights that much of the research on land modifications describes the behavior of actors at the local scale, yet decision-making regarding land modifications is affected by political decisions at the national scale and by global market dynamics on the international scale (149). The relatively minor attention by papers in the systemic review to expanding deployment of land modifications is due to the fact that most of the research adopts the households or individuals as the unit of analysis without little consideration of the broader context in which land modifications may be implemented.

Even though there is less attention in the extant literature to institutional and political barriers to more widespread deployment of land modifications, those barriers are likely highly important. For land modifications to be deployed to the extent necessary to bring about watershed-scale effects, land modifications will either have to be deployed on a greater number of parcels (scaling out) or at a larger magnitude (scaling-up). Whether efforts to overcome cognitive-informational and financial barriers are successful will in part depend on how those efforts are perceived and experienced by a wide variety of actors. Coordination and potentially cooperation between actors may be needed for scaling-up and will be essential for implementing in locations that maximize collective benefits, yet such coordination and cooperation will depend on actor willingness to undertake land modifications due to the public benefits they provide.

7. LOOKING FORWARD: PROSPECTS, KNOWLEDGE NEEDS, AND FUTURE RESEARCH

Our review of the state of knowledge on land modifications to jointly mitigate the risks of both floods and droughts and the people who make decisions regarding their implementation indicates that although scholarly work has begun to address this topic, with 93 peer-reviewed Scopus and Web of Science articles meeting our selection criteria, substantial gaps in knowledge remain regarding human preferences, behaviors, and the potential for expanding deployment.

First and foremost, the literature does not address well the use of land modifications to contend with climate variability. Many land modifications have the potential to serve the dual purpose of mitigating risks stemming from both too much and too little water. Consequently, a search criterion for the systematic review was that papers must include reference to the risks of both floods and droughts. While all of the papers identified in the systematic review included some reference to both hazards, only a few explicitly addressed the ways in which land modifications were concurrently addressing them (see, e.g., 37, 43, 44). The papers also do not examine whether and how land owners, managers, and users evaluate and make decisions based on both potential risks. Rather, even though all of the papers identified by the systematic review referenced both floods and droughts, the papers either tended to emphasize only one of the two hydroclimatic risks or focused more vaguely on adaptation to climate change, without connecting the land modifications with risks in detail (36, 39, 48). Given the need to recognize the effects of compounding and cascading risks (150), much greater attention to the potential for land modifications to serve multiple purposes and to the ways in which actors perceive and act on land modifications as a response to concurrent risks is needed.

Second, a majority (>86%) of the papers identified in the systematic review encompass evidence on land modifications from the Global South. This trend is noteworthy because there is often a bias in the English academic literature toward evidence on the Global North, particularly on environmentally related topics (see, e.g., 136). That many articles address land modifications in the Global South likely reflects major concerns of researchers, and funders of research, regarding the fate of low-income households in relation to climate change. Such concerns are also evidenced by the fact that many of those papers examine adaptation quite broadly, with land modifications considered in the research as only one among many alternatives to address livelihood and food security under a changing climate (54, 145, 148). The result is that while the literature provides a fairly robust depiction of general motivations of, as well as barriers to and enablers of, action by households in the Global South, it does not provide nuanced understandings of household perspectives on joint reduction of flood and drought risks nor on differences across types of land modifications.

Importantly, there are prominent differences in the framing of the literature on actors and land modifications in the Global South versus in the Global North. The narrative within much of the literature on the Global South focuses on the risks posed by climate change in areas already facing food insecurity due to constraints on land productivity, technology, and resource availability (41, 45). Vulnerability of livelihoods to hydroclimatic events is a central concern for which land modifications represent a potentially affordable solution that simultaneously contributes to economic development (see, e.g., 55, 95). In contrast, the narrative conveyed in the literature on the Global North focuses on the impact of historic land use change and the services provided by ecosystems (see, e.g., 44, 96). Here, the argument depicts the value of multifunctional landscapes as much in relation to mitigating hydroclimatic risks as in relation to supporting ecosystems restoration/ resilience. The difference between the two narratives likely explains (*a*) the aforementioned emphasis of literature on land modifications in the Global South by subsistence-scale or small-scale agricultural households, and (*b*) the relative dearth of papers from the Global North that met the criteria for the systematic review. Even though there is a relatively large literature on nature-based solutions and natural flood risk management in both Europe and the United States (see, e.g., 24, 136, 151), the few that consider land modifications to jointly mitigate floods and droughts do not include the role of land owners, managers, and users.

Because the literature in the systematic review predominantly focuses on small- or subsistencescale agriculture in the Global South, information about land modifications for larger-scale productive uses and by actors in other (e.g., forestry, recreational, residential, or urban) sectors is lacking. Our understanding of deployment of land modifications by public entities, collectives, and users of larger parcels of land is especially limited (see, e.g., 97, 149). This gap is problematic, for a variety of reasons. First, while agriculture land use (grazing and crops) jointly comprises 37.6% of global land use (152), 84% of farms are small (less than 2 ha), and these small farms operate on only approximately 12% of global farmland (153). As public, collective, and/or large land owners, managers, and users can implement land modifications at a larger scale, and thus the potential effects of those modifications at the watershed level are larger, those actors merit greater attention. Second, the context in which public, collective, and/or large land users engage in land modifications differs from that of small- or subsistence-scale agriculture and pastoralism, and thus findings from one type of actor may not be transferrable to others.

Furthermore, because much of the literature in the systematic review is concerned with climate adaptation and risks to livelihoods with the household as the unit of analysis, there is little information on how land managers, owners, and users perceive land modifications in relation to other types of risks, such as the effects of floods and droughts on buildings, infrastructure, health, and ecosystems. Perceptions and/or evaluations of the potential public benefits from land modifications are rarely examined (see, e.g., 38, 84).

Also absent across the literature on both the Global South and Global North is theorizing in relation to the motivations and decision-making processes of people in relation to implementation of land modifications. While existing research identifies barriers to and enablers of land modifications (41, 48, 49), very few papers examine the question of why differing actors might be interested or willing to adopt land modifications (101, 112). Overall, the literature employs the implicit assumption that land users will adopt land modifications if they both perceive a climate risk and have the capacity to implement the land modification (41, 123, 126). However, as we know from a long tradition of scholarly work on risk protection and environmental behavior, people weigh multiple factors when making decisions about what actions to undertake (23, 25, 98). For implementation of land modifications to become widespread, we need to develop much deeper understandings of how people perceive land modifications, what drives their decision-making process, and the influence of the social and institutional structure in which land users are embedded on their decision-making process.

Particular attention to determining the knowledge requirements of land users as they engage in deciding whether to deploy land modifications is needed, and how those requirements vary by actor and by type of land modification. As described above, frequently the effects of land modifications are not monitored and ex ante quantification of the benefits of land modifications is not undertaken. Without understanding the knowledge needs of the multiple actors involved in land modification, scholars, practitioners, and even project designers cannot produce the data and information necessary to support land modification decisions, let alone deployment.

It is also essential to improve understandings of the social psychology regarding how land users consider the private versus public benefits of land modifications (75, 78). Benefits from land modifications may accrue to entities in the watershed beyond the implementer. For example, upstream

water retention can reduce both downstream flood risk and the effects of future dry periods where the water is retained (4, 45). Literature identified in the systematic review primarily focused on private benefits and did not address how actors weigh the distribution of private versus public benefits of land modifications. Improved understandings of the perspectives and motivations of actors in relation to the public versus private benefits of land adjustments, and how those are related to social institutions and decision-making, are needed to identify the full range of barriers to land modification as well as to determine the potential for interventions to steer uptake of land modifications.

Lastly, we need to more thoroughly identify the barriers or enablers that are specific to each type of land modification and each context for implementation. Each type of land modification may have a different interaction with land tenure practices as well as with laws, regulations, and societal expectations related to land, water, and the environment. Some land modifications are more permanent than others. Even though there are many similarities and shared characteristics, it is important to distinguish between land modifications, as some may be more well suited or feasible for certain situations than for others.

Land modifications are a potentially valuable tool for adaptation in regions that concurrently face the prospect of future floods and droughts. In addition to mitigating hydroclimatic risks, many land modifications can provide ecological and economic cobenefits. Further attention to the intersecting human and physical dimensions of land modifications is needed to evaluate their full potential as well as ensure they receive full consideration on the adaptation agenda.

SUMMARY POINTS

- Modifications to land characteristics, use, and management can serve to jointly mitigate the risks of both floods and droughts. Land modifications reduce risks by intervening in the hydroclimatic conditions in ways that slow flows, infiltrate water, reduce runoff, and/or store water. Land modifications can also serve to reduce demands for water or the sensitivity of production to variability in rainfall.
- Seven types of land modifications include land cover change, soil enhancements, topographic alterations, water capture and storage, cropping alterations, livestock alterations, and conversion of land use.
- The geographic expanse and specific location of land modifications affect whether they
 have property-level, localized, or watershed effects. How land users weigh off-property
 effects when making decisions regarding land modifications has not been well explored.
- 4. Most of the research on land modifications to address concurrent risks of floods is focused on the Global South. Research located in Asia and Africa primarily examines small-scale (subsistence) farmers, whereas research in North America and Australia addresses a broader range of land owner, manager, and user types, including communal schemes, private companies, and nonagricultural users.
- 5. Land owners, managers, and users are heterogeneous, with differing needs, preferences, and capacities. Due to limited empirical evidence for comparison, it remains to be determined whether motivations for and enablers of/barriers to implementation vary across small private (and predominantly agricultural) land users and public, collective, or larger-scale land users.

- 6. Literature focused on land modifications in the Global South frames the hydroclimatic mitigation challenge mostly as related to livelihoods, whereas literature on land modifications in the Global North emphasizes a socio-ecosystem resilience narrative.
- 7. Most studies do not theorize behavior of land users, and few studies provide in-depth examination of motivations to deploy specific types of land modifications for mitigating concurrent flood and drought risks.
- 8. The effect of enabling strategies varies across types of land modification. Land cover and livestock management alterations are equally supported by all forms of enabler; soil enhancement and crop alterations are best enabled by economic, information-based, and capacity-building enablers; and water capture and storage is best enabled by regulatoryand authority-based interventions. The literature includes little discussion regarding enablers of land topography alterations or conversion of land use.

FUTURE ISSUES

- Despite a well-recognized need to address compound and cascading risks, research on land modifications neither delves into detail regarding the potential for land modifications to concurrently mitigate the risks of floods and droughts nor addresses how land owners, managers, and users perceive and are motivated by dual versus single risks. Deeper examination of the potential for land modifications to serve multiple purposes and how actors view this multifunctional aspect of land modifications will be useful for informing the future policies and programs aimed at risk mitigation.
- 2. The potential contributions of land modifications to mitigation of concurrent flood and drought risks, as well as barriers and motivators to their deployment, will be influenced by geographic, ecologic, and socioeconomic factors. Comparative research is needed to understand the physical effects of land modifications across biomes as well as how the social contexts influence deployment.
- 3. Land users have multiple options in choosing what land modifications to deploy and are not constrained to deployment of a single modification. Furthermore, as deployment expands within a catchment, the effects of land modifications may change. Greater understanding is needed of the potential trade-offs across types of land modifications, across locations of land modifications, of interactions between land modifications, and of the cumulative effects of multiple land modifications. Such information can be used to provide guidance, raise awareness, and produce decision-support tools to aid land users in decision-making.
- 4. While it is well recognized that land modifications have the potential to provide both public and private benefits, the willingness and interest of land owners, managers, and users to consider public benefits as they make decisions about land modification implementation is not known. Insights on how actors making decisions to implement land modifications weigh public benefits may help in the development of enabling policies seeking to convince those actors do implement land modifications on their lands, especially land modifications intended to achieve watershed-scale effects.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The article was compiled with the support of a Masaryk-Fulbright scholarship sponsored by the US and Czech governments. Special thanks to Marie Bělohoubková for the production and adjustment of the land modification images in **Figure 1**.

LITERATURE CITED

- IPCC (Intergov. Panel Clim. Change). 2022. Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability: Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed. H-O Pörtner, DC Roberts, M Tignor, ES Poloczanska, K Mintenbeck, et al. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Arneth A, Olsson L, Cowie A, Erb K, Hurlbert M, et al. 2021. Restoring degraded lands. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 46:569–99
- Yang TH, Liu WC. 2020. A general overview of the risk-reduction strategies for floods and droughts. Sustainability 12(7):2687
- Wilkinson ME, Addy S, Quinn PF, Stutter M. 2019. Natural flood management: small-scale progress and larger-scale challenges. Scott. Geogr. 7. 135(1–2):23–32
- 5. Belle JA, Collins N, Jordaan A. 2018. Managing wetlands for disaster risk reduction: a case study of the eastern Free State, South Africa. *Jamba: J. Disaster Risk Stud.* 10(1):A400
- 6. Lane NS. 2017. Natural flood management. WIREs Water 4:e1211
- Kreibich H, Van Loon AF, Schröter K, Ward PJ, Mazzoleni M, et al. 2022. The challenge of unprecedented floods and droughts in risk management. *Nature* 608:80–86
- 8. Ward PJ, de Ruiter MC, Mård J, Schröter K, Van Loon A, et al. 2020. The need to integrate flood and drought disaster risk reduction strategies. *Water Secur.* 11:100070
- 9. Brunner MI, Slater L, Tallaksen LM, Clark M. 2021. Challenges in modeling and predicting floods and droughts: a review. *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Water* 8(3):e1520
- 10. Mazzoleni M, Odongo VO, Mondino E, Di Baldassarre G. 2021. Water management, hydrological extremes, and society: modeling interactions and phenomena. *Ecol. Soc.* 26(4):4
- 11. Wingfield T, Macdonald N, Peters K, Spees J, Potter K. 2019. Natural Flood Management: beyond the evidence debate. *Area* 51(4):743–51
- Hartmann T, Jílková J, Schanze J. 2018. Land for flood risk management: a catchment-wide and crossdisciplinary perspective. *J. Flood Risk Manag.* 11(1):3–5
- 13. Kuhlicke C, Seebauer S, Hudson P, Begg C, Bubeck P, et al. 2020. The behavioral turn in flood risk management, its assumptions and potential implications. *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Water* 7(3):e1418
- Rogger M, Agnoletti M, Alaouiet A, Bathurst JC, Bodner G, et al. 2017. Land use change impacts on floods at the catchment scale: challenges and opportunities for future research. *Water Resour: Res.* 53:5209–19
- Filatova T. 2014. Market-based instruments for flood risk management: a review of theory, practice and perspectives for climate adaptation policy. *Environ. Sci. Pol.* 37:227–42
- Lim CH, Wong HL, Elfithri R, Teo FY. 2022. A review of stakeholder engagement in integrated river basin management. *Water* 14:2973
- Mees H, Crabbé A, Driessen PPJ. 2017. Conditions for citizen co-production in a resilient, efficient and legitimate flood risk governance arrangement. A tentative framework. *J. Environ. Policy Plan.* 19(6):827– 42
- 18. Raikes J, Smith TF, Jacobson C, Baldwin C. 2019. Pre-disaster planning and preparedness for floods and droughts: a systematic review. *Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct.* 38:101207

- Potočki K, Hartmann T, Slavíková L, Collentine D, Veidemane K et al. 2022. Land policy for flood risk management—toward a new working paradigm. *Earth's Future* 10(4):e2021EF002491
- UNEP (U. N. Environ. Prog.). 2020. Nature-based solutions for adaptation. In *Adaptation Gap Report* 2020, pp. 43–76. Nairobi, Kenya: UNEP
- 21. Kiparsky M, Milman A, Vicuña S. 2012. Climate and water: knowledge of impacts to action on adaptation. *Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour.* 37:163-94
- Biagini B, Bierbaum R, Stults M, Dobardzic, McNeeley SM. 2014. A typology of adaptation actions: a global look at climate adaptation actions financed through the Global Environment Facility. *Glob. Environ. Change* 25:97–108
- Milman A, Warner BP, Chapman DA, Gianotti AGS. 2018. Identifying and quantifying landowner perspectives on integrated flood risk management. *J. Flood Risk Manag.* 11(1):34–47
- Turner B, Devisscher T, Chabaneix N, Woroniecki S, Messier C, Seddon N. 2022. The role of naturebased solutions in supporting social-ecological resilience for climate change adaptation. *Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour* 47:123–48
- Okumah M, Martin-Ortega J, Novo P, Chapman PJ. 2020. Revisiting the determinants of proenvironmental behaviour to inform land management policy: a meta-analytic structural equation model application. *Land* 9(135):135
- Paré G, Trudel MC, Jaana M, Kitsiou S. 2015. Synthesizing information systems knowledge: a typology of literature reviews. *Inf. Manag.* 52(2):183–99
- Allan RP, Barlow M, Byrne MP, Cherchi A, Douville H, et al. 2020. Advances in understanding largescale responses of the water cycle to climate change. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1472:49–75
- Wenguang Z, Wenjuan W, Guanglei H, Chao G, Ming J, Xianguo L. 2020. Cooling effects of different wetlands in semi-arid rural region of Northeast China. *Theor. Appl. Climatol.* 141(1/2):31–41
- Tan X, Liu S, Tian Y, Zhou Z, Wang Y, et al. 2022. Impacts of climate change and land use/cover change on regional hydrological processes: case of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. Front. Environ. Sci. 9:783324
- Bell CD, Wolfand JM, Panos CL, Bhaskar AS, Gilliom RL, et al. 2020. Stormwater control impacts on runoff volume and peak flow: a meta-analysis of watershed modelling studies. *Hydrol. Process* 34(14):3134–52
- Gregory JH, Dukes MD, Jones PH, Mitter GL. 2006. Effect of urban soil compaction on infiltration rate. *J. Soil Water Conserv.* 61(3):117–24
- 32. Basche AD, DeLonge MS. 2019. Comparing infiltration rates in soils managed with conventional and alternative farming methods: a meta-analysis. *PLOS ONE* 14(9):e0215702
- 33. Ghestem M, Sidle RC, Stokes A. 2011. The influence of plant root systems on subsurface flow: implications for slope stability. *BioScience* 61(11):869–79
- Collentine D, Futter MN. 2018. Realising the potential of natural water retention measures in catchment flood management: trade-offs and matching interests. *J. Flood Risk Manag.* 11(1):76–84
- Jamil I, Jun W, Mughal B, Waheed J, Hussain H, Waseem M. 2021. Agricultural Innovation: a comparative analysis of economic benefits gained by farmers under climate resilient and conventional agricultural practices. *Land Use Policy* 108:105581
- Rahut DB, Aryal JP, Marenya P. 2021. Ex-ante adaptation strategies for climate challenges in sub-Saharan Africa: Macro and micro perspectives. *Environ. Chall.* 3:100035
- McCarthy N, Kilic T, Brubaker J, Murray S, de la Fuente A. 2021. Droughts and floods in Malawi: impacts on crop production and the performance of sustainable land management practices under weather extremes. *Environ. Develop. Econ.* 26(5/6):432–49
- 38. Oyekale TO, Oyekale AS. 2019. Endogenous-switching regression modeling of farmers' exposure to climate hazards and reforestation in selected villages in Africa. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 1378:032018
- Akinyi DP, Ng'ang'a SK, Girvetz EH. 2021. Trade-offs and synergies of climate change adaptation strategies among smallholder farmers in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. *Reg. Sustain*. 2(2):130– 43
- Nguyen AT, Hens L. 2021. Diversified responses to contemporary pressures on sloping agricultural land: Thai farmer's perception of mountainous landscapes in northern Vietnam. *Environ. Dev. Sustain.* 23(4):5411–29

- Kalele DN, Ogara WO, Oludhe C, Onono JO. 2021. Climate change impacts and relevance of smallholder farmers' response in arid and semi-arid lands in Kenya. Sci. Afr. 12:e00814
- Abubakar A, Ishak MY, Makmom AA. 2021. Impacts of and adaptation to climate change on the oil palm in Malaysia: a systematic review. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 28(39):54339–61
- Arora A, Birwal D. 2017. Natural calamities, crop losses and coping strategies: an economic analysis from Odisha. *Indian 7. Agric. Econ.* 72(3):385–95
- Gooden J, Pritzlaff R. 2021. Dryland watershed restoration with rock detention structures: a naturebased solution to mitigate drought, erosion, flooding, and atmospheric carbon. *Front. Environ. Sci.* 9:679189
- Amede T, Van den Akker E, Berdel W, Keller C, Tilahun G, et al. 2020. Facilitating livelihoods diversification through flood-based land restoration in pastoral systems of Afar, Ethiopia. *Renew. Agric. Food Syst.* 37(S1):S43–54
- Castonguay AC, Urich C, Iftekhar MS, Deletic A. 2018. Modelling urban water management transitions: a case of rainwater harvesting. *Environ. Model. Softw.* 105:270–85
- 47. Gawai S, Sen V. 2016. Environment security and Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme. In *Climate Change Challenge (3C) and Social-Economic-Ecological Interface-Building. Environmental Science and Engineering*, ed. S Nautiyal, R Schaldach, K Raju, H Kaechele, B Pritchard, K Rao, pp. 315–23. Cham, Switz.: Springer
- Tessema I, Simane B. 2021. Smallholder Farmers' perception and adaptation to climate variability and change in Fincha sub-basin of the Upper Blue Nile River Basin of Ethiopia. *GeoJournal* 86(4):1767–83
- Choosuk C, Khunwishit S, Chevakidagarn P. 2021. Climate change impacts and adaptation of households in U-Tapao River Sub-Basin, Thailand. Int. J. Sustain. Dev. Plan. 16(6):1091–99
- Khanal U, Wilson C, Lee B, Hoang VN. 2018. Smallholder farmers' participation in climate change adaptation programmes: understanding preferences in Nepal. *Clim. Policy* 18(7):916–27
- Rolfe J, Perry L, Long P, Frazer C, Beutel T, Tincknell J, Phelps D. 2021. GrazingFutures: learnings from a contemporary collaborative extension program in rangeland communities of western Queensland, Australia. *Rangel.* 7. 43(3):173–83
- Rao CS, Gopinath KA, Prasad JVNS, Prasannakumar Singh AK. 2016. Chapter Four Climate resilient villages for sustainable food security in tropical India: concept, process, technologies, institutions, and impacts. *Adv. Agron.* 140:101–214
- Ali SM, Khalid B, Akhter, Islam A, Adnan S. 2020. Analyzing the occurrence of floods and droughts in connection with climate change in Punjab province, Pakistan. *Nat. Hazards* 103(3):2533–59
- Mahaarcha W. 2019. Factors influencing farmers' adaptation strategies to climate change in Bophloi district, Kanchanaburi province, Thailand. *Humanit. Arts Soc. Sci. Stud.* 19(1):70–86
- 55. Ayeb-Karlsson S, van der Geest K, Ahmed I, Huq S, Warner K. 2016. A people-centred perspective on climate change, environmental stress, and livelihood resilience in Bangladesh. *Sustain. Sci.* 11(4):679–94
- 56. Macháč J, Brabec J, Hekrle M, Vacková A. 2021. What nature-based flood protection solutions are best perceived by people? Lessons from field research in Czechia. In *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Vol. 107: *Nature-Based Solutions for Flood Mitigation*, ed. CSS Ferreira, Z Kalantari, T Hartmann, P Pereira, pp. 425–46. Cham, Switz.: Springer
- Thorslund J, Jarsjo J, Jaramillo F, Jawitz JW, Manzoni S, et al. 2017. Wetlands as large-scale naturebased solutions: status and challenges for research, engineering and management. *Ecol. Eng.* 108(Part B):489–97
- Tscharntke T, Clough Y, Bhagwat SA, Buchori D, Faust H, et al. 2011. Multifunctional shade-tree management in tropical agroforestry landscapes—a review. J. Appl. Ecol. 48(3):619–29
- Quandt A, Neufeldt H, McCabe JT. 2017. The role of agroforestry in building livelihood resilience to floods and drought in semiarid Kenya. *Ecol. Soc.* 22(3):10
- Fahad S, Chavan SB, Chichaghare AR, Uthappa AR, Kumar M et al. 2022. Agroforestry systems for soil health improvement and maintenance. *Sustainability* 14(22):14877
- Ghale B, Mitra E, Sodhi HS, Verma AK, Kumar S. 2022. Carbon sequestration potential of agroforestry systems and its potential in climate change mitigation. *Water Air Soil Pollut*. 233(7):228
- 62. Higgins D, Balint T, Liversage H, Winters P. 2018. Investigating the impacts of increased rural land tenure security: a systematic review of the evidence. *J. Rural Stud.* 61:34–62

- 63. Katusiime J, Schuett B. 2020. Linking land tenure and integrated watershed management—a review. *Sustainability* 12(4):1667
- 64. Murken L, Gornott C. 2022. The importance of different land tenure systems for farmers' response to climate change: a systematic review. *Clim. Risk Manag.* 35:100419
- 65. Musinguzi M, Huber T, Kirumira D, Drate P. 2021. Assessment of the land inventory approach for securing tenure of lawful and bona fide occupants on private Mailo land in Uganda. *Land Use Policy* 110:104562
- 66. Kenfack Essougong UP, Teguia SJM. 2019. How secure are land rights in Cameroon? A review of the evolution of land tenure system and its implications on tenure security and rural livelihoods. *GeoJournal* 84:1645–56
- Fanadzo M, Ncube B. 2018. Challenges and opportunities for revitalising smallholder irrigation schemes in South Africa. Water SA 44(3):436–47
- Arora P, Bert F, Podesta G, Krantz DH. 2015. Ownership effect in the wild: influence of land ownership on agribusiness goals and decisions in the Argentine Pampas. J. Behav. Exp. Econ. 58:162–70
- 69. Kumari R, Nakano Y. 2016. Does land lease tenure insecurity cause decreased productivity and investment in the sugar industry? Evidence from Fiji. Aust. J. Agric. Resour: Econ. 60(3):406-21
- 70. Parker DP, Thurman NW. 2019. Private land conservation and public policy: land trusts, land owners, and conservation easements. *Annu. Rev. Resour. Econ.* 11:337–54
- 71. Notess L, Veit P, Monterroso I, Andiko, Sulle E, et al. 2021. Community land formalization and company land acquisition procedures: a review of 33 procedures in 15 countries. *Land Use Policy* 110:104461
- 72. Tompkins EL, Eakin H. 2012. Managing private and public adaptation to climate change. *Glob. Environ. Change* 22(1):3–11
- 73. Gezie M. 2019. Farmer's response to climate change and variability in Ethiopia: a review. *Cogent Food Agric*. 5:1
- Salazar-Espinoza C, Jones S, Tarp F. 2015. Weather shocks and cropland decisions in rural Mozambique. Food Policy 53:9–21
- 75. Slavíková L, Raška P. 2019. This is my land! Privately funded natural water retention measures in the Czech Republic. In *Nature-Based Flood Risk Management on Private Land*, ed. T Hartmann, L Slavíková, S McCarthy, pp. 55–67. Cham, Switz.: Springer
- Brown PC. 2018. Property rights that 'work' in the face of disaster: per share joint ownership of arable in early modern and modern Japan. *Glob. Environ.* 11(2):258–93
- 77. Sutherland LA, Barnes A, McCrum G, Blackstock K, Toma L. 2011. Towards a cross-sectoral analysis of land use decision-making in Scotland. *Landsc. Urban Plan.* 100(1–2):1–10
- 78. Gutman J. 2019. Commentary: urban wetlands restoration as NBS for flood risk mitigation: from positive case to legitimate practice, in the view of evidence-based flood risk policy making. In *Nature-Based Flood Risk Management on Private Land*, ed. T Hartmann, L Slavíková, S McCarthy, pp. 127–34. Cham, Switz.: Springer
- Liefferink D, Wiering M, Crabbe A, Hegger D. 2018. Explaining stability and change. Comparing flood risk governance in Belgium, France, the Netherlands, and Poland. J. Flood Risk Manag. 11(3):281–90
- Bisaro A, de Bel M, Hinkel J, Kok S, Bouwer LM. 2020. Leveraging public adaptation finance through urban land reclamation: cases from Germany, the Netherlands and the Maldives. *Clim. Change* 160(4):671–89
- Slavíková L, Raška P, Kopáček M. 2019. Mayors and "their" land: revealing approaches to flood risk management in small municipalities. *J. Flood Risk Manag.* 12(3):e12474
- 82. Fandohan B, Sanchez AC. 2014. Local perceptions of climate change and its impacts on indigenous fruit trees: water, adaptation and sustainability in Benin. In *Adaptation to Climate Change through Water Resources Management*, ed. D Stucker, E Lopez-Gunn. London: Routledge. https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.4324/9780203085875-11/local-perceptions-climate-change-impacts-indigenous-fruit-trees-belarmain-fandohan-aida-cuni-sanchez?context=ubx&refId=ea5b42d0-27b8-448e-b370-70c5f615796d
- Tsonkova P, Mirck J, Böhm C, Fütz B. 2018. Addressing farmer-perceptions and legal constraints to promote agroforestry in Germany. *Agrofor: Syst.* 92(4):1091–103

- 84. Bark RH. 2021. Designing a flood storage option on agricultural land: What can flood risk managers learn from drought management? Water 13(18):2604
- Wilkinson ME. 2019. Commentary: Mr. Pitek's land from a perspective of managing hydrological extremes: challenges in upscaling and transferring knowledge. In *Nature-Based Flood Risk Management on Private Land*, ed. T Hartmann, L Slavíková, S McCarthy, pp. 69–75. Cham, Switz.: Springer
- Bawa A, Perez-Gutierrez JD, Kumar S. 2021. Simulating hydrological responses of integrated croplivestock systems under future climate changes in an agricultural watershed. *J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc.* 57(3):474–92
- Kaur G, Singh G, Motavalli PP, Nelson KA, Orlowski JM, et al. 2020. Impacts and management strategies for crop production in waterlogged or flooded soils: a review. J. Agron. 112(3):1475–501
- Sklenicka P. 2016. Classification of farmland ownership fragmentation as a cause of land degradation: a review on typology, consequences, and remedies. *Land Use Policy* 57:694–701
- Ricart S, Castelletti A, Gandolfi C. 2022. On farmers' perceptions of climate change and its nexus with climate data and adaptive capacity. A comprehensive review. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 17(8):083002
- Williams PA, Crespo O, Abu M, Simpson NP. 2018. A systematic review of how vulnerability of smallholder agricultural systems to changing climate is assessed in Africa. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 13(10):103004
- 91. Adger WN. 2006. Vulnerability. Glob. Environ. Change 16(3):268-81
- 92. Williams C, Fenton A, Huq S. 2015. Knowledge and adaptive capacity. Nat. Clim. Change 5:82-83
- Mortreux C, Barnett J. 2017. Adaptive capacity: exploring the research frontier. WIREs Clim. Change 8:e467
- Shukla R, Agarwal A, Gornott C, Sachdeva K, Joshi PK. 2019. Farmer typology to understand differentiated climate change adaptation in Himalaya. Sci. Rep. 9:20375
- Fahad S, Wang J. 2018. Farmers' risk perception, vulnerability, and adaptation to climate change in rural Pakistan. *Land Use Policy* 79:301–9
- Asibey MO, Abubakari M, Peprah C. 2019. Vulnerability and urban farming: coping with price volatility in Ejisu-Juaben municipality, Ghana. Cogent Food Agric 5(1):1594504
- Malatinszky A. 2016. Stakeholder perceptions of climate extremes' effects on management of protected grasslands in a central European area. *Weather Clim. Soc.* 8(3):209–17
- Grothmann T, Patt A. 2005. Adaptive capacity and human cognition: the process of individual adaptation to climate change. *Glob. Environ. Change A* 15(3):199–213
- Eyster HN, Satterfield T, Chan KMA. 2022. Why people do what they do: an interdisciplinary synthesis of human action theories. *Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour.* 47:725–51
- 100. Smith A. 2000 (1776). The Wealth of Nations. New York: Modern Library
- Pangapanga PI, Jumbe CB, Kanyanda S, Thangalimodzi L. 2012. Unravelling strategic choices towards droughts and floods' adaptation in Southern Malawi. *Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct.* 2:57–66
- Ajzen I. 1985. From intentions to actions: a theory of planned behavior. In Action Control: From Cognition To Behavior, ed. IJ Kuhl, J Beckmann, pp. 11–39. Berlin: Springer-Verlag
- Holt JR, Butler BJ, Borsuk ME, Markowski-Lindsay M, MacLean MG, et al. 2021. Using the Theory
 of Planned Behavior to understand family forest owners' intended responses to invasive forest insects. *Soc. Nat. Resour.* 34(8):1001–18
- Rogers RW. 1975. A protection motivation theory of fear appeals and attitude change. J. Psychol. 91(1):93–114
- Cialdini R, Reno R, Kallgren C. 1990. A focus theory of normative conduct: recycling the concept of norms to reduce littering in public places. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 58(6):1015–26
- Steg L, Vlek C. 2009. Encouraging pro-environmental behaviour: an integrative review and research agenda. J. Environ. Psychol. 29(3):309–17
- 107. Steward J. 1955. Theory of Culture Change. Champagne, IL: Univ. Ill. Press
- Ali AMS. 1995. Population pressure, environmental constraints and agricultural change in Bangladesh: examples from three agroecosystems. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 55(2):95–109
- 109. Stern PC. 2000. Toward a coherent theory of environmentally significant behavior. J. Soc. Issues 56(3):407-24

- Moore HE, Boldero J. 2017. Designing interventions that last: a classification of environmental behaviors in relation to the activities, costs, and effort involved for adoption and maintenance. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1874
- Stern PC, Oskamp S. 1987. Managing scarce environmental resources. In Handbook of Environmental Psychology, ed. D Stokols, I Altman, pp. 1044–88. New York: Wiley
- 112. Phuong LTH, Biesbroek GR, Sen LTH, Wals AEJ. 2018. Understanding smallholder farmers' capacity to respond to climate change in a coastal community in Central Vietnam. *Clim. Dev.* 10(8):701–16
- van Valkengoed AM, Steg L. 2019. Meta-analyses of factors motivating climate change adaptation behaviour. Nat. Clim. Change 9(2):158–63
- 114. Diekmann A, Preisendörfer P. 2003. Green and Greenback: the behavioral effects of environmental attitudes in low-cost and high-cost situations. *Ration. Soc.* 15(4):441–72
- 115. Harrington J, Tabor LK, Wilson IE. 2011. Stakeholder adaptation to climatic change in Kansas: What have we learned? *Pap. Appl. Geogr. Conf.* 34:1–9
- Ahmad D, Afzal M, Rauf A. 2021. Flood hazards adaptation strategies: a gender-based disaggregated analysis of farm-dependent Bait community in Punjab, Pakistan. *Environ. Dev. Sustain.* 23(1):865–86
- 117. Teshager M, Adgo E, Tilahun T. 2014. Investigating the determinants of adaptation strategies to climate change: a case of Batti district, Amhara region, Ethiopia. *Int. J. Agric. Res.* 9(4):169–86
- Moser SC, Ekstrom JA. 2010. A framework to diagnose barriers to climate change adaptation. PNAS 107(51):22026–31
- Biesbroek GR, Klostermann JEM, Termeer CJAM, Kabat P. 2013. On the nature of barriers to climate change adaptation. *Reg. Environ. Change* 13:1119–29
- Eisenack K, Moser SC, Hoffmann E, Klein RJT, Oberlack C, et al. 2014. Explaining and overcoming barriers to climate change adaptation. *Nat. Clim. Change* 4:867–72
- Beckman M, Nguyen MVT. 2016. Upland development, climate-related risk and institutional conditions for adaptation in Vietnam. *Clim. Dev.* 8(5):413–22
- 122. Jacobi J, Bottazzi P, Pillco MI, Schneider M, Rist S. 2017. Building farm resilience in a changing climate: challenges, potentials, and ways forward for smallholder cocoa production in Bolivia. In *Identifying Emerging Issues in Disaster Risk Reduction, Migration, Climate Change and Sustainable Development*, ed. K Sudmeier-Rieux, M Fernández, I Penna, M Jaboyedoff, J Gaillard, pp. 231–47. Cham, Switz.: Springer
- Maharjan SK, Maharjan KL. 2020. Exploring perceptions and influences of local stakeholders on climate change adaptation in Central and Western Tarai, Nepal. *Clim. Dev.* 12(6):575–89
- 124. Wu W, Di S, Chen Q, Yang S, Pan X, Liu H. 2013. The compensation mechanism and water quality impacts of agriculture-urban water transfers: a case study in China's Chaobai watershed. *Water Resour: Manag.* 27(1):187–97
- 125. Holden ST, Fisher M, Katengeza S, Thierfelder C. 2018. Can lead farmers reveal the adoption potential of conservation agriculture? The case of Malawi 2018. *Land Use Policy* 76:113–23
- 126. Ahmad D, Afzal M. 2020. Flood hazards and factors influencing household flood perception and mitigation strategies in Pakistan. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 27(13):15375
- 127. Blackburn J, Mooiweer H, Parks M, Hutson A. 2018. The Soil Value Exchange: unlocking nature's value via the market. *Bull. At. Sci.* 74(3):162–69
- Williamson TB, Nelson HW. 2017. Barriers to enhanced and integrated climate change adaptation and mitigation in Canadian forest management. *Can. J. For. Res.* 47(12):1567–76
- Wingfield T, Macdonald N, Peters K, Spees J. 2021. Barriers to mainstream adoption of catchment-wide natural flood management: a transdisciplinary problem-framing study of delivery practice. *Hydrol. Earth* Syst. Sci. 25:6239–59
- 130. Tuihedur Rahman HM, Hickey GM. 2019. What does autonomous adaptation to climate change have to teach public policy and planning about avoiding the risks of maladaptation in Bangladesh? *Front. Environ. Sci.* 7:2
- 131. Tangney P. 2017. Climate Adaptation Policy and Evidence: Understanding the Tensions between Politics and Expertise in Public Policy. London: Routledge. 1st ed.
- 132. Shi X, Du C, Guo X, Shi W. 2021. Heterogeneity of water-retention capacity of forest and its influencing factors based on meta-analysis in the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region. *J. Geogr. Sci.* 31:69–90

- 133. Liu YF, Liu Y, Shi ZH, López-Vicente M, Wu GL. 2020. Effectiveness of re-vegetated forest and grassland on soil erosion control in the semi-arid Loess Plateau. *Catena* 195:104787
- Wahren A, Schwaerzel K, Feger KH. 2012. Potentials and limitations of natural flood retention by forested land in headwater catchments: evidence from experimental and model studies. *J. Flood Risk Manag.* 5(4):321–35
- 135. Biber E. 2013. The challenge of collecting and using environmental monitoring data. Ecol. Soc. 18(4):68
- Chausson A, Turner B, Seddon D, Chabaneix N, Girardin CAJ, et al. 2020. Mapping the effectiveness of nature-based solutions for climate change adaptation. *Glob. Change Biol.* 26:6134–55
- 137. Norman LM, Brinkerhoff F, Gwilliam E, Guertin DP, Callegary J, et al. 2016. Hydrologic response of streams restored with check dams in the Chiricahua Mountains, Arizona. *River Res. Appl.* 32(4):519–27
- Muttaqin A, Suntoro, Komariah. 2021. Estimation of peak runoff impact from land use change using remote sensing and GIS in Keduang sub-watershed. *IOP Conf. Ser. Earth Environ. Sci.* 824:012005
- 139. Hu S, Fan Y, Zhang T. 2020. Assessing the effect of land use change on surface runoff in a rapidly urbanized city: a case study of the central area of Beijing. *Land* 9(1):17
- Schilling KE, Gassman PW, Kling CL, Campbell T, Jha MK, et al. 2014. The potential for agricultural land use change to reduce flood risk in a large watershed. *Hydrol. Process.* 28(8):3314–25
- 141. Salgado Terencio DP, Sanches Fernandes LF, Vitor Cortes RM, Moura JP, Leal Pacheco FA. 2019. Can land cover changes mitigate large floods? A reflection based on partial least squares-path modeling. *Water* 11(4):684
- 142. Gabriels K, Willems P, Van Orshoven J. 2022. An iterative runoff propagation approach to identify priority locations for land cover change minimizing downstream river flood hazard. *Landsc. Urban Plan.* 218:104262
- Marrin DL. 2020. Emergent properties of water resources and associated watershed systems. *Proceedings* 48(1):18
- Rickards L, Wiseman J, Edwards T, Biggs C. 2014. The problem of fit: scenario planning and climate change adaptation in the public sector. *Environ. Plan. C* 32(4):641–62
- Ogada MJ, Radeny M, Recha J, Dawit S. 2021. Adoption of complementary climate-smart agricultural technologies: lessons from Lushoto in Tanzania. *Agric. Food Secur.* 10(1):55
- Brondizio ES, Moran EF. 2008. Human dimensions of climate change: the vulnerability of small farmers in the Amazon. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 363(1498):1803–9
- Jackson LE, Wheeler SM, Hollander AD, O'Geen AT, Orlove BS, et al. 2011. Case study on potential agricultural responses to climate change in a California landscape. *Clim. Change* 109:407–27
- Olsson L, Jerneck A. 2010. Farmers fighting climate change-from victims to agents in subsistence livelihoods. WIRES Clim. Change 1(3):363–73
- Fedele G, Locatelli B, Djoudi H. 2017. Mechanisms mediating the contribution of ecosystem services to human well-being and resilience. *Ecosyst. Serv.* 28:43–54
- Pescaroli G, Alexander D. 2018. Understanding compound, interconnected, interacting, and cascading risks: a holistic framework. *Risk Anal.* 38(11):2245–57
- 151. Debele SE, Kumar P, Sahani J, Marti-Cardona B, Mickovski SB, et al. 2019. Nature-based solutions for hydro-meteorological hazards: revised concepts, classification schemes and databases. *Environ. Res.* 179(Part B):108799
- 152. Ritchie H, Roser M. 2019. Land use. Our World in Data, Sept. https://ourworldindata.org/land-use
- Lowder S, Raney T, Skoet J. 2014. The global distribution of smallholder and family farms. CGAP, Oct. 9. https://www.cgap.org/blog/global-distribution-smallholder-and-family-farms